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          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Welcome to

          3  today's joint hearing on the Finance Committee and

          4  the Public Safety Committee. My name is David

          5  Weprin, I chair the Finance Committee. On my

          6  immediate left is the Chair of the Public Safety

          7  Committee, Peter Vallone, Jr. We'll be joined by a

          8  number of colleagues through the course of the

          9  morning, and I think we'll hear from them shortly.

         10                 Welcome to this oversight hearing on

         11  the potential effects of Homeland Security funding

         12  cuts on New York City's Terrorism Preparedness.

         13                 Today's oversight hearing will be

         14  held, as I mentioned, in conjunction with the Public

         15  Safety Committee. I would like today to be a forum

         16  where we can evaluate the effects of the Department

         17  of Homeland Security decision to cut New York City's

         18  anti-terrorism funding by over 40 percent and

         19  determine what specific programs and public safety

         20  measures will be directly affected as a result of

         21  these drastic reductions.

         22                 As I have repeatedly stated in the

         23  past, there is clearly an unfair element of our

         24  balance of payment situation with the federal

         25  government.
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          2                 New Yorkers have been sending and

          3  continue to send far more money to Washington than

          4  we get back in aid and in services. This 40 percent

          5  cut in Homeland Security funding for the most

          6  vulnerable City in the country, not only does not

          7  make sense, but it is a slap in the face from those

          8  who are so sympathetic after September 11th, and

          9  exacerbates New York City's balance of payments

         10  deficit with Washington DC.

         11                 In addition, while funding for New

         12  York City was substantially cut, several localities

         13  have faced much less risk than New York City, such

         14  as Charlotte, North Carolina, Omaha Nebraska and

         15  Louisville, Kentucky, receive a significant increase

         16  in Homeland Security funding compared to last year.

         17  Because New York City is the largest Metropolitan

         18  area in the country with the greatest population per

         19  square foot than any other City in the United

         20  States, it faces unique challenges to public safety

         21  and unparalleled threats to Homeland Security.

         22                 In such a high-risk urban area,

         23  counterterrorism efforts are extremely costly and

         24  extensive.

         25                 Federal funding is absolutely crucial
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          2  to the City's ability to safeguard residents and

          3  tourists, critical infrastructure and numerous and

          4  significant landmarks, and I emphasize landmarks and

          5  also icons, because as you know, in the reference

          6  that was highly reported, referred to New York City

          7  not having any icons, I think most of the members of

          8  the City Council and almost everybody would agree

          9  that that certainly is not accurate.

         10                 Today these Committees would like to

         11  determine how the City's agency, such as the Police

         12  Department, plan to implement critical

         13  counter-terrorism efforts in light of the

         14  significant cut in federal Homeland Security

         15  funding, and what public safety measures will be

         16  directly impacted.

         17                 Before we hear from Police

         18  Commissioner Kelly, I'm going to turn it over to my

         19  co-chair Peter Vallone, Jr., for a statement.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. And

         21  I'd like to thank Chair Weprin of the Finance

         22  Committee for his help and his staff's help in

         23  preparing for this hearing and in requesting this

         24  hearing.

         25                 It's good to have somebody with his
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          2  financial background up here while we deal with

          3  these very important issues.

          4                 I would also like to welcome my

          5  Congressperson, Carolyn Maloney, who is here today,

          6  was going to testify, but unfortunately is only in

          7  town for one day and we need to hear from the Police

          8  Commissioner first and can't stay around, but has

          9  her statement, and will be sitting here, and have

         10  her staff here to listen to all of -- if the

         11  Sergeant-At-Arms could take Carolyn Maloney's

         12  statement, please.

         13                 Could you grab that statement?

         14  Thanks. And we'll have staff members here throughout

         15  to be informed as to the Police Commissioner's

         16  position before she goes down and fights for us in

         17  Washington.

         18                 We've also been joined by Council

         19  Member Addabbo, Council Member Yassky. A great

         20  article in the Times today, Council Member Yassky.

         21  As I said, it's a good thing they haven't seen you

         22  dance.

         23                 I think Council Member Oddo, on the

         24  right, apparently got that reference. And Council

         25  Member Garodnick, and Fidler is behind us. Okay.
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          2                 Chair Weprin said much of what I was

          3  going to say, so let me just say that on June 1st we

          4  awoke here in this City to the stunning news that

          5  funding for New York City, which is used to prepare

          6  and respond to acts of terrorism, was dramatically

          7  and inexcusably cut by 40 percent. We are now down

          8  from 213 million to 124 million.

          9                 The issue is the safety and security

         10  of millions of people who live and work here in New

         11  York City every day and the obligation of the

         12  federal government to ensure their safety.

         13                 Let me go off my prepared remarks for

         14  a second. When we talk about the obligation of the

         15  federal government, let's not forget that it was the

         16  federal government's obligation to protect us prior

         17  to 9/11 also, and the federal government failed us,

         18  the CIA failed us, had no clue that that massive

         19  plot was being undertaken. The INS failed us,

         20  allowing terrorists to illegally enter and remain in

         21  this country, the FAA failed us for allowing these

         22  terrorists to take over the planes. Apparently, the

         23  federal government has not learned from its

         24  mistakes, it's failing us once again, and we are

         25  being left more vulnerable than we should be. That's
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          2  why I invited Secretary Chertoff here this morning,

          3  to explain to the people whose lives he's put at

          4  risk, why he made this decision.

          5                 Prior to today his excuses have

          6  changed depending on the time of the day and the

          7  person that he's speaking to. He's appeared at time

          8  like a pestilent child blaming us for a bad

          9  application, and at other times like an arrogant

         10  dictator, warning us that attacks on the Secretary

         11  wouldn't work.

         12                 Well, the fax we sent to the

         13  secretary didn't work either. So, pardon us if we're

         14  now forced to attack. If he would have had the guts

         15  to show up here this morning and take questions from

         16  New York City residents, I would have also offered

         17  to take him on a tour of all of our monuments and

         18  landmarks here in New York City.

         19                 I would have taken him to the

         20  Brooklyn Bridge, the George Washington Bridge, the

         21  Lincoln and Holland Tunnels, the UN, the Stock

         22  Exchange, the Citigroup Center, all of which have

         23  already been on al Qaeda's list of targets. I would

         24  have taken him to NBC, the Post, both of which have

         25  already been victims of anthrax attacks. Would have
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          2  taken him to the Statue of Liberty, right to the

          3  top. Oh, no, we couldn't do that actually because

          4  it's closed due to security concerns. And we could

          5  have taken him to the World Trade Center, where we

          6  sit in what used to be its shadow, but obviously, we

          7  all are aware of what happened there.

          8                 Mr. Chertoff needs to get his head

          9  out of the sand and listen to us.

         10                 Let me get back to some of these

         11  prepared remarks. Given the stress of cut in

         12  funding, many necessary programs, including the

         13  lower Manhattan security initiative, are in jeopardy

         14  of being reduced or eliminated. The City is in the

         15  process of revising its request to match the amount

         16  of funding allocated, and will resubmit its request

         17  for a review by the Department of Homeland Security.

         18                 We intend to discuss today with the

         19  NYPD and OMB, both of which are ready to testify

         20  now, and respond to questions, the effect this

         21  decreased funding will have on the City's

         22  counter-terrorism initiatives.

         23                 Again, thank you all for being here

         24  to address this important matter. We are being

         25  joined by Council Member McMahon, and Helen Sears
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          2  has also joined us.

          3                 Commissioner Kelly, I believe from

          4  what I've heard prior to our openings, you will be

          5  testifying, and then OMB representative and yourself

          6  will be available to take questions. So, the floor

          7  is yours.

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you,

          9  Chairman Weprin and Vallone. I am joined by Stu

         10  Klein, First Deputy Director of OMB on my far right,

         11  and Ed Allocco, Deputy Commissioner of Management

         12  and Budget at the New York City Police Department.

         13                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         14  discuss with you the decision by the Department of

         15  Homeland Security to cut the amount of

         16  counter-terrorism funding it provides New York City

         17  by 40 percent.

         18                 We've also provided you with copies

         19  of Popular Mechanics that's hitting the newsstands

         20  this week. It explores the Police Department's

         21  counter-terrorism innovations and identifies police

         22  agencies in major American cities and around the

         23  world that are using the NYPD as a model.

         24                 The DHS response to our application

         25  for funding is as inscrutable as it is baffling.
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          2                 What is clearly known is that the

          3  City will have significantly less support from the

          4  federal government, at least in the near term to

          5  defend itself. No attempt at rationalizing the

          6  process by which DHS arrived at its conclusions will

          7  change that simple fact.

          8                 As a result, we can take little

          9  comfort that DHS's assertion that New York remains

         10  at the top of the list of federal dollars received,

         11  or its recognition that the City is a prime target

         12  of terrorists, and that money should follow the

         13  threat. That sounds good in theory, but in practice

         14  New York is now one of approximately 46 cities

         15  eligible for threat-based aid, instead of one of the

         16  original seven.

         17                 One would expect the City to benefit

         18  from federal funding formulas that place a heavy

         19  emphasis on risk, but the affect is apparently more

         20  than offset by the competing desire to spread the

         21  wealth.

         22                 Yes, New York has received more

         23  federal counter-terrorism aid in total than any

         24  other City since September 11th and rightfully so.

         25  But that should not be used as an excuse by the
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          2  federal government to walk away from the sustained

          3  ongoing costs required to protect vital national

          4  assets here.

          5                 No other City has been targeted as

          6  often and to such devastating affects as we have.

          7  DHS's failure to recognize those assets as both

          8  economic and symbolic targets flies in the face of

          9  reality.

         10                 Here are 17 chapters in New York

         11  City's that the Department of Homeland Security may

         12  want to commit to memory.

         13                 1. November 5th, 1990. El Sayyid

         14  Nosair shot JDL leader Meir Kahane in front of the

         15  Marriot East Side Hotel in Manhattan. Nosair would

         16  later become a co-conspirator with blind sheikh Omar

         17  Abdul Rahman in a plot to destroy New York City

         18  tunnels and bridges.

         19                 2. February 26th, 1993. New York City

         20  sustained the first terrorist attack on the World

         21  Trade Center, in which six innocent people were

         22  killed.

         23                 3. In the same year, 1993, an al

         24  Qaeda plot to destroy the Holland and Lincoln

         25  tunnels, the George Washington Bridge, and United
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          2  Nations Headquarters was uncovered, and the plotters

          3  successfully prosecuted.

          4                 4. March 1, 1994. Rashid Baz, a

          5  Palestinian angered by an Orthodox Jew's attack on a

          6  Muslim holy site, drove his livery cab to the

          7  Brooklyn Bridge where he opened fire on a van

          8  occupied by Hassidic students, killing one of them,

          9  16-year-old Ari Halberstam.

         10                 5. February 23, 1997. Abu Kamel, a

         11  Palestinian residing in Florida, selected the Empire

         12  State Building to carry out his intent of

         13  "annihilating" perceived enemies. He went to the

         14  observation deck on the 86th floor and shot seven

         15  people, including a Danish tourist who was killed.

         16  Kamel then turned the gun on himself and committed

         17  suicide.

         18                 6. July 31st, 1997. The New York City

         19  Police Department stopped a plot at the last minute

         20  to bomb the subway complex at Atlantic Avenue in

         21  Brooklyn. The bombers were assembling the devices

         22  when police officers entered their apartment and

         23  shot and wounded them before they could detonate the

         24  bombs.

         25                 7. September 11th, 2001. The World
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          2  Trade Center was destroyed by al Qaeda with the loss

          3  of 2,700 lives.

          4                 8. October 2001. In the space of a

          5  week, employees and visitors of the New York Post,

          6  NBC, CBS and ABC News in New York City fall victim

          7  to anthrax attacks. Later the same month a New York

          8  City woman died of inhalation anthrax because of

          9  cross contamination of mail she handled at work with

         10  that of the targeted media.

         11                 9. June 2002. Security personnel from

         12  Iran's Mission to the United Nations were observed

         13  by NYPD videotaping landmarks and infrastructure.

         14  They were expelled from the United States by the

         15  State Department because of their suspicious

         16  activities.

         17                 10. Late 2002 and early 2003. Al

         18  Qaeda operative Iyman Faris, on order from his

         19  handlers overseas, twice examined the Brooklyn

         20  Bridge to evaluate the feasibility of destroying it.

         21                 11. November 2003. Two more security

         22  personnel assigned to Iran's Mission tot he United

         23  Nations were caught by the NYPD videotaping tracks

         24  and tunnels of the Number 7 subway line as it

         25  entered the tunnel under the East River. They
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          2  returned to Iran soon after the incident.

          3                 12. April 10, 2004. Al Qaeda

          4  operative Mohammad Babar was arrested by NYPD

          5  detectives and FBI agents in Queens for his role in

          6  a plot to bomb pubs, restaurants and train stations

          7  in London.

          8                 13. June 2004. Once again, two more

          9  security personnel from Iran's Mission to the United

         10  Nations were caught - this time by the FBI -

         11  videotaping sensitive locations in New York.

         12  Suspected of conducting reconnaissance of New York

         13  City landmarks and infrastructure, they were again

         14  expelled by the State Department.

         15                 14. July 2004. A laptop computer of

         16  an al Qaeda operative overseas is recovered. On it

         17  are detailed reconnaissance plans that show al Qaeda

         18  operatives had been in New York City to plan an

         19  attack on the New York City Sock Exchange, Citigroup

         20  headquarters in mid-town Manhattan and the

         21  Prudential building across the river in Newark.

         22                 15. August 2004. A week before the

         23  convening of the Republican National Convention two

         24  Islamic radicals from Brooklyn were arrested in a

         25  plot to bomb the Herald Square subway station. One
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          2  pleaded guilty and cooperated with the

          3  investigation. The other was convicted in Federal

          4  court earlier this month. He was found guilty on all

          5  four counts.

          6                 16. November 2005. Uzair Paracha, a

          7  Pakistani-born resident of New York City, was

          8  convicted of providing material support to al Qaeda.

          9  While residing in New York, Uzair posed as an al

         10  Qaeda operative who wanted to disguise the fact that

         11  he had entered Pakistan illegally. Paracha's father,

         12  who had met Osama bin Laden, was part owner in a

         13  Manhattan garment district business. It was

         14  suspected that Paracha's ultimate goal was to use

         15  that business's shipping containers to smuggle

         16  weapons and explosives into New York City.

         17                 17. Just last week on June 6, Syed

         18  Hashmi, a Queens resident active in the New York

         19  City chapter of a radical Islamic group known as

         20  al-Mujairoun, was arrested in London where he was

         21  engaged in providing material support for al Qaeda

         22  fighters in Afghanistan.

         23                 So, one may well ask why the federal

         24  authorities responsible for assisting local

         25  governments in protecting themselves against
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          2  terrorism in fact decided that New York City's needs

          3  are not as great this year as they were last year,

          4  and that our techniques for fighting terrorism do

          5  not deserve as much support as those of other

          6  jurisdictions facing admittedly lower levels of

          7  threat.

          8                 The threat to New York, as evidenced

          9  in part by the list I just provided, as well as the

         10  caseload of the New York Joint Terrorism Task Force,

         11  coupled with the risks accruing to those threats,

         12  should guide the process by which federal grant

         13  dollars are distributed to local entities securing

         14  national assets. While the specific numbers are

         15  classified, it should be noted that the number of

         16  investigations ongoing at the New York Joint

         17  Terrorism Task Force significantly exceeds that of

         18  any other major city in the nation.

         19                 This high caseload, supported by

         20  consistent, classified threat reporting received by

         21  the national intelligence community, should clearly

         22  underscore the prominence of New York in terms of

         23  the threat.

         24                 We would like to take you through the

         25  process we used to seek federal support for our
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          2  counter-terrorism efforts, and also describe the

          3  Department of Homeland Security's response, so that

          4  you may better assess the various reasons which have

          5  been reported for the cut to our funding.

          6                 The NYPD does not make a direct

          7  application to DHS for homeland security funding.

          8  The process is coordinated by the Office of

          9  Management and Budget, and OMB works with the

         10  agencies and the Mayor's Office to balance the

         11  City's overall needs and priorities, in order to

         12  create the City's grant application.

         13                 OMB then submits the City's

         14  application to the State Office of Homeland

         15  Security, which in turn submits it to DHS.

         16                 In December of 2005, OMB sent a

         17  memorandum to the affected City agencies explaining

         18  a new competitive process that was required by DHS

         19  for Federal Fiscal Year 2006 Homeland Security grant

         20  funding.

         21                 My staff conducted a comprehensive

         22  survey of the counter-terrorism needs for the

         23  Department, and prepared a submission seeking $200

         24  million.

         25                 Our funding request reflected the
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          2  wide variety of innovative techniques and strategies

          3  we employ to fight terrorism. We focused on key

          4  priorities: intelligence and information sharing,

          5  analysis and dissemination; law enforcement

          6  investigation and operations; equipment to detect

          7  and respond to incidents involving chemical,

          8  biological, radiological and explosive devices; and

          9  interoperable communications equipment. Our request

         10  included funding for equipment, training and

         11  personnel costs. This request included funding for

         12  the Lower Manhattan Security Initiative, which we

         13  discussed with you during the last month's budget

         14  hearing.

         15                 After receiving input from the

         16  agencies and consulting with the Mayor and his

         17  staff, OMB prepared a total of 15 proposed

         18  "investments," the term used by DHS to describe the

         19  initiatives for which funding is sought. The City's

         20  application sought a total of $458.8 million. Of

         21  that amount, three investments were submitted on

         22  behalf of the NYPD, totaling $219.7 million:

         23                 - 81.5 million for the Lower

         24  Manhattan Security Initiative.

         25                 - 100 million for the
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          2  Counter-Terrorism Bureau and Operation Atlas; and

          3                 - 38.2 million for counter-terrorism

          4  equipment and training.

          5                 Upon receipt of the City's grant

          6  application, the State Office of Homeland Security

          7  forwarded the application to DHS properly and on

          8  time.

          9                 In processing the grant applications

         10  received, DHS performed its evaluations based on two

         11  separate criteria: risk and effectiveness. Although

         12  DHS placed New York in the top tier of those cities

         13  at the highest risk of terrorist attack, the

         14  calculations used to arrive at that conclusion

         15  remain a mystery. What we do know is that this

         16  methodology resulted in the dubious determination

         17  that New York has no "national monuments and icons."

         18                 You may have read Secretary

         19  Chertoff's explanation for this finding last week in

         20  the New York Times op-ed piece. In that piece, he

         21  stated that DHS was actually attempting to help New

         22  York's application by placing sites like the Empire

         23  State Building in the "Commercial Assets Category,

         24  and the Brooklyn Bridge in the "Transportation

         25  Category."
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          2                 According to the Secretary,

          3  designating them as national icons and monuments

          4  would give them a lower risk quotient. While we

          5  appreciate the intent, it didn't seem to do much to

          6  benefit the city's application. Our point is that

          7  they should be considered both economic and iconic

          8  targets.

          9                 With respect to the second prong of

         10  the evaluation, program effectiveness, DHS chose to

         11  delegate this responsibility to a set of peer review

         12  panels. According to DHS, over 100 reviewers

         13  representing 48 states and territories, 38 Urban

         14  Areas and 2 federal agencies participated in the

         15  review process. But little is known about how these

         16  experts were selected or their core competencies.

         17                 Certainly, the Police Department was

         18  not consulted about either the selection process or

         19  the knowledge, skills and abilities that such panel

         20  members should possess. In any event, any process in

         21  which so-called experts from outside New York City

         22  are charged with commenting on and evaluating the

         23  efficacy of the NYPD's counter-terrorism programs

         24  and initiatives is inherently flawed.

         25                 In the DHS peer review of key Police
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          2  Department initiatives, two were judged to fall

          3  within the bottom 15% of all investments submitted

          4  nationwide: First, the Counter-Terrorism Bureau and

          5  Operation Atlas; and second, counter-terrorism

          6  equipment and training. These are the heart of the

          7  ongoing costs that I referred to earlier as vital to

          8  defending the city. As you know, Atlas is our

          9  patrol-based initiative to secure landmarks and

         10  critical infrastructure.

         11                 Meanwhile, the Department has been

         12  internationally recognized for the quality of its

         13  counter-terrorism training; training incidentally,

         14  that has been provided to the members of dozens of

         15  outside agencies.

         16                 In fact, the New York City Police

         17  Department's Counter-Terrorism Bureau has trained

         18  over 800 federal employees in various aspects of

         19  counter terrorism; this week, for instance, the

         20  Counter Terrorism Bureau is scheduled to deliver

         21  training in Terrorism Awareness and Security

         22  Checkpoint  Operations to Federal Protective Service

         23  police officers and supervisors. As you may know,

         24  the Federal Protective Service is a DHS entity.

         25                 While the DHS peer review panels
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          2  questioned the sustainability of these programs, no

          3  less an expert than former DHS Secretary Tom Ridge

          4  said during his tenure, "I doubt there is a city

          5  that is better prepared, more on alert or that has

          6  devoted more resources to prevention than New York

          7  City."

          8                 FBI Director Robert Mueller called

          9  our Counter Terrorism Bureau and revamped

         10  Intelligence Division "models for the nation." Brian

         11  Jenkins, Vice-Chairman of the RAND Corporation and

         12  one of the world's foremost counter terrorism

         13  experts, congratulated the Department for being on

         14  the "cutting edge" of combatting terrorism in a

         15  recent lecture at 1 Police Plaza.

         16                 At the heart of this discrepancy is

         17  really a basic philosophical difference with the DHS

         18  approach. We see our ongoing initiatives, like

         19  Operation Atlas as a necessary component of our

         20  strategy to prevent terrorist planning and attack,

         21  worthy of federal investment and the ongoing

         22  personnel costs required to sustain it.

         23                 DHS and the Peer Review Panels

         24  apparently view this type of operational investment

         25  as a purely local matter, for which the federal
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          2  government is not responsible, since it is a local

          3  function performed at local expense by local

          4  personnel already in place. We respectfully

          5  disagree.

          6                 And to paraphrase the military, we

          7  would stress that the real key is having boots on

          8  the ground. We need human intelligence to disrupt

          9  terrorist planning, like the plot to bomb the Herald

         10  Square Subway Station, and the conspiracy revealed

         11  last week to attack multiple targets in Ontario

         12  Canada.

         13                 We need to utilize officers on patrol

         14  around the clock, on overtime as needed, to protect

         15  prime targets. We need to train them throughout

         16  their careers to contend with emerging threats and

         17  to use the equipment that federal funds may

         18  purchase.

         19                 We would submit that New York City is

         20  being disadvantaged because we are ahead of the

         21  curve, and that our funding needs are different from

         22  those of many other jurisdictions precisely because

         23  we have attended to so many of these needs ourselves

         24  for so long.

         25                 We need the federal government to
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          2  step up and adequately share the burden of these

          3  ongoing costs to defend vital national interests in

          4  New York.

          5                 Fortunately for us, Congressman Peter

          6  King is Chairman of the House Committee on Homeland

          7  Security. His congressional district does not

          8  include New York City, but he has been our fiercest

          9  defender, nonetheless, not because of parochial

         10  bias, but because he is knowledgeable. He is

         11  intimately familiar with the best intelligence

         12  information available. Congressman King said it best

         13  when he called the cut in funding "indefensible and

         14  disgraceful."

         15                 We should also remember that there is

         16  another aspect of federal assistance, beyond

         17  funding. That is the responsibility of the federal

         18  government to take whatever legislative action is

         19  necessary to better protect not only New Yorkers but

         20  the rest of the country from terrorist threats.

         21                 For example, we are working closely

         22  with Congressman King to address the threat of home

         23  made explosives. Congress must swiftly pass his bill

         24  regulating the sale and possession of ammonium

         25  nitrate, so that this widely-used commercial
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          2  fertilizer is less likely to remain a terrorist

          3  weapon of choice.

          4                 A central question on everyone's mind

          5  of course, is how the 40 percent cut in federal

          6  funding will affect our counter terrorism efforts.

          7  It is premature to make specific predictions

          8  regarding how the funds that we do receive will be

          9  allocated. And how our proposed initiatives will

         10  have to be modified to account for the loss.

         11                 But, the Mayor and I are firmly

         12  committed to maintaining our strong and proactive

         13  approaches to fighting terrorism.

         14                 We will continue to do everything we

         15  can to keep this City safe and to maximize the

         16  resources we do have. First and foremost, the

         17  outstanding men and women of the New York City

         18  Police Department. We strongly agree with those who

         19  say that protecting the rest of the nation also

         20  protects New York City. But it is equally true that

         21  to protect New York City is to protect the nation.

         22                 We are hopeful that a continuing

         23  dialogue with the Department of Homeland Security

         24  will result in a better outcome for New York City in

         25  the future. And I would like to take this
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          2  opportunity to thank you and the entire City Council

          3  for focusing on this crucial issue, and working with

          4  us towards that goal.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          7  Commissioner, especially for being here on short

          8  notice and preparing this comprehensive testimony.

          9                 We've been joined by Council Members

         10  Monserrate, Katz, Gioia and Gallagher. Thank you,

         11  all.

         12                 Commissioner, to begin, you stated on

         13  the bottom paragraph of page five that there is a

         14  fundamental difference between your strategy and the

         15  federal government. I couldn't agree more. Homeland

         16  Security, Michael Chertoff stated, the urban area

         17  security initiatives awards are designed as capacity

         18  building investments. We are looking to pay for new

         19  equipment and projects that increase the nation's

         20  overall preparedness. They are not for routine and

         21  recurring operating expenses, like salaries and

         22  overtime. As you said, a fundamental difference. We

         23  are using our money to prepare for and prevent

         24  terrorist attacks. They are insisting that the money

         25  be used to respond to terrorist attacks.
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          2                 I believe the old adage, you know,

          3  "an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure"

          4  is lost on the Homeland Security Department.

          5                 Obviously your approach has been

          6  successful. As you said on page two, you went

          7  through the entire list of attacks which occurred

          8  and most of which have been prevented. What is your

          9  response to the Secretary's statement that this

         10  money should be used for equipment to prevent as

         11  opposed to planning to -- equipment to respond as

         12  opposed to planning to prevent, and also to programs

         13  like Operation Impact, which prevents through use of

         14  officers which protect our vital areas?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, of course,

         16  we think that they're fundamentally wrong. New York

         17  has a sophisticated ongoing program that is the

         18  model for many departments in the nation.

         19                 That's why we distributed, it just

         20  came out now, the Popular Mechanics magazine, that

         21  says in there that the departments are coming here

         22  to model their defenses and their efforts to prevent

         23  an attack on what we're doing here. But we

         24  understand, of course, the need to be able to

         25  respond, God forbid there is an event, and we, of
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          2  course, have to, we as a Department have to respond

          3  if there is a catastrophic event here. And we have

          4  gotten equipment and we do a lot of training for

          5  response in that regard. We do it with the Fire

          6  Department and other City agencies, but the first

          7  goal is to prevent an attack here, and we're doing

          8  more than any other place in America to prevent the

          9  attack. And again, if you look at the list that I

         10  ran through, it's obvious that New York is on the

         11  top of the terrorist target list. No other city

         12  comes anywhere close with this litany of attempts

         13  and successful attacks.

         14                 We want to prevent something from

         15  happening here. I think the consensus in law

         16  enforcement community is that we have a very

         17  effective program in that regard.

         18                 We need sustainable reimbursement. We

         19  need money coming to enable us to do the things that

         20  we're doing and continue to do it.

         21                 Homeland security seems to have

         22  adopted this investment approach. We're going to

         23  give you hardware and then we're going to move on to

         24  someplace else. It simply doesn't work in New York

         25  City.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I didn't realize

          3  this magazine is being handed out by the Police

          4  Department.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, we just

          6  received it Friday, so we thought it would be

          7  appropriate -- those are our members of our Aviation

          8  Unit on the cover there, but it's a pretty

          9  comprehensive treatment of what we're doing in the

         10  Department. Again, it just happened to come out on

         11  Friday.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, this is

         13  Aviation Unit. Is this part of Operation Hercules,

         14  Atlas, and how much does that cost you to guard?

         15                 What do those programs do, and how

         16  much do they cost?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, there are

         18  opportunity costs, there are, you know, ongoing

         19  budgeted costs, and there's some overtime costs, we

         20  estimate that it costs anywhere from 170 to 200

         21  million a year for the Department to conduct this

         22  kind of terrorism programs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me get into

         24  the application process and what actually got into

         25  your application and how.
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          2                 First of all, let me just say that

          3  their attempt to blame us for a faulty application

          4  is beyond pathetic. I think they mentioned we may

          5  have lost credit for double-spacing. You know, I

          6  think next year there might be an essay competition

          7  with references necessary. I agree with you, why

          8  don't we just use al Qaeda for a reference and use

          9  their list of sites to base our funding on and go

         10  home.

         11                 In fact, just submit page two of your

         12  testimony and be done with it. But of course, they

         13  have an application process, so let's start with how

         14  that works on the City level. You said you made

         15  recommendations; how do your recommendations get

         16  made? What is the decision process within your

         17  agency, and then how does the City judge the

         18  applications made by all different agencies and come

         19  up with a final proposal?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we do a

         21  comprehensive examination internal to the

         22  Department. We use our Counter-Terrorism Bureau,

         23  along with our Office of Management and Budget,

         24  proposals are submitted internally in the

         25  Department, and we, in turn construct a
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          2  comprehensive application, and we submit to the

          3  Office of Management and Budget, and Management and

          4  Budget does the collating of information for other

          5  City agencies, and then they make some judgments as

          6  to what's appropriate, they're working with the

          7  Mayor's Office, they're working with the agencies

          8  themselves, and then that application is forwarded

          9  to the State, and the State, as I said in my

         10  prepared remarks, forwards that application directly

         11  to DHS. Now, maybe it's probably appropriate for

         12  First Deputy Director Klein to talk about the

         13  application process.

         14                 MR. KLEIN: I think the Commissioner

         15  summarized it fairly well. The application is

         16  forwarded by various departments to OMB, OMB reviews

         17  it with an oversight group trying to review the

         18  individual agency requests for the Mayor's Office,

         19  and determines City's priorities. Once priorities

         20  are established, the application is then forwarded

         21  to the State and then passed on to the Department of

         22  Homeland Security.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Was there any

         24  problem that you know of in that process? Was it

         25  done on time? Was it done in accordance to the
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          2  Department of Homeland Security's guidelines?

          3                 MR. KLEIN: Yes, it was done in

          4  accordance with their guidelines, and it was

          5  submitted on time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So their initial

          7  statement that it was not electronically transmitted

          8  was false?

          9                 MR. KLEIN: I understand there might

         10  have been an issue in terms of transmitting

         11  electronically; however, they did receive the

         12  application on time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And that

         14  transmission, as you said, was from the State or the

         15  City?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: Yes, from the State.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you know if

         18  it was transmitted electronically or not?

         19                 MR. KLEIN: No, I don't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. I'm going

         21  to leave the follow-up questions to OMB to Chair

         22  Weprin when I'm done.

         23                 The next step, Commissioner Kelly, in

         24  this process; first of all, you submitted a request

         25  for programs like the Lower Manhattan security
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          2  initiative, which you described here at at least two

          3  hearings, the one we had on NYPD surveillance. And I

          4  believe it's a very vital project to the safety of

          5  Lower Manhattan, how will the Lower Manhattan's

          6  security initiative be affected by this loss of

          7  funding?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, it's

          9  difficult to say now. I think it's a very important

         10  project. It's something that's going to require much

         11  further study and review. The short answer is that

         12  it's going to put at least a pause in going forward

         13  with the Lower Manhattan Security Initiative. We

         14  don't have the money to do it now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Another

         16  statement that was made this weekend by the Mayor

         17  caused me great concern when he mentioned how we

         18  were going to make up for those loss of money. He

         19  said this amount of money that would pay for 800 new

         20  cops, which is exactly the amount of police officers

         21  that we've been fighting for in this budget

         22  included.

         23                 Are you aware of any potential for us

         24  losing the 800 new police officers which we were

         25  finally successful in putting in this budget?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, I'm not aware

          3  of any indication that that would not be going

          4  forward.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Now, given the

          6  fact that we're cut almost in half, what is the next

          7  step in the procedure for the NYPD? Will you need to

          8  now prioritize what programs you intend to use this

          9  money for?

         10                 I'm also told that because some of

         11  the programs amazingly fell into the bottom 15

         12  percent, you'll have to provide additional

         13  documentation; what is the next step for the NYPD?

         14                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we're going

         15  to continue the programs that we've been doing. Our

         16  Atlas Programs, Hercules. We have a very robust

         17  operation in our Counter-Terrorism Bureau, and our

         18  Intelligence Division. Those operations are going to

         19  continue.

         20                 The Mayor has pledged that we're

         21  going to find the money to make certain that we

         22  continue to do what we're doing. But as you said,

         23  Mr. Chairman, I think the immediate impact, or at

         24  least the biggest impact will be a cessation of the

         25  Lower Manhattan Security Initiative. We're going to
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          2  have to regroup and take a very hard look at that

          3  plan.

          4                 We believe that we need to do more

          5  security for our financial area in Lower Manhattan.

          6                 Obviously we have the 9/11 attack

          7  there, but we have other buildings that might be

          8  considered iconic, even by Homeland Security, and

          9  that would be the Freedom Tower. Of course Goldman

         10  Sachs Tower is under construction. There are more

         11  residences down there being constructed.

         12                 So, that area is a, I think, very

         13  crucial area to receive additional security

         14  measures, and we're going to sit down, we're going

         15  to talk to certainly the Mayor, the Mayor's staff

         16  and OMB and see what aspects of that plan we might

         17  be able to go forward with.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned

         19  iconic measurements, and you mentioned in your

         20  testimony that a few were placed in different

         21  categories, ostensibly to help us. I'd like to see

         22  what we would receive if they placed them in the

         23  proper categories, but we agree with you that they

         24  should have been placed in both categories. One that

         25  was not mentioned, and which I think is on top of
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          2  everybody's list, is the Statue of Liberty. Only

          3  that didn't make the report because it was on

          4  federal land.

          5                 I'd like to know from you if we

          6  receive any federal help in guarding the Statue of

          7  Liberty. Do we get Air Force flyovers? Is the Navy

          8  stationed outside of the Statue of Liberty? What

          9  help do we get from the federal government guarding

         10  the Statue of Liberty?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, the Park

         12  Police are present there, but we do drills with them

         13  all the time. We've had exercises right on Liberty

         14  Island where our police officers land, repel from

         15  helicopters, and we patrol right around the Island

         16  with our harbor launches. Our Aviation Units do

         17  flyovers, and we work cooperatively with the Park

         18  Police. But I think it would be fair to say if there

         19  is any event that takes place there, we're going to

         20  very much be involved.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So there's no

         22  Air Force, there's no navy, there's no Army but we

         23  get a few Park Police from the federal government?

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Of course the

         25  Coast Guard is also in the Harbor as well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. I have a

          3  million questions, but I will wind up with two so we

          4  can move on to the rest of our Council members.

          5                 We also are joined by Council Members

          6  Foster, Jackson and Koppell. You mentioned the Peer

          7  Review Panel, which supposedly made this final

          8  decision. As far as I can tell, there are over

          9  165,000 employees in the Department of Homeland

         10  Security, has a $35.5 billion budget, almost as big

         11  as the City of New York, and yet they farm this work

         12  out, this essential work, to a secretive, mysterious

         13  review panel.

         14                 Have you been successful in

         15  determining at all who comprise this panel?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We have not, and

         17  I know that there are hearings that are going to be

         18  conducted in Washington. We're hopeful that some

         19  light can be shed on the selection process and the

         20  qualifications of these individuals.

         21                 As I said in my prepared remarks, you

         22  know, it would be interesting to find out who they

         23  believe had a level, a training level or

         24  knowledge-based level that they would be qualified

         25  to take a look at what we're doing here.
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          2                 So, we await that information but we

          3  don't have any knowledge of how the selection took

          4  place, or with minor exceptions. A couple of people

          5  we know are in a panel, but generally speaking that

          6  is a confidential information that they're not

          7  putting out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I have

          9  many more questions, but I'll come back to them

         10  after, if they're not asked by fellow Committee

         11  members.

         12                 So, let me turn it over now to Chair

         13  Weprin.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Chair

         15  Vallone.

         16                 I'm primarily going to direct my

         17  questions to First Deputy Director Klein, although

         18  there may be one or two questions that will come out

         19  of it for Commissioner Kelly.

         20                 Mr. Klein, how much has the City

         21  received from the Department of Homeland Security

         22  since the inception of these grant programs?

         23                 MR. KLEIN: In 2004, we received 96

         24  million. In 2005, we received 203 million.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: What about prior
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          2  to 2004?

          3                 MR. KLEIN: In 2003 we received 154

          4  million.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: 2002?

          6                 MR. KLEIN: We hadn't received

          7  anything from these programs?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And how has the

          9  City utilized Department of Homeland Security?

         10  Specifically which agencies, other than the Police

         11  Department, which we had extensive testimony on,

         12  have actually received the funds?

         13                 I know we had the Health Commissioner

         14  testify here on the budget, and he testified that he

         15  was going to be having significant cuts, it was

         16  somewhere in the teens, 14 million or 16 million or

         17  something along those lines, which would affect

         18  potential bioterrorism that the Health Department

         19  had been working on.

         20                 Can you give us an indication of what

         21  other agencies, you know, compose the full gamut of

         22  Homeland Security funds?

         23                 MR. KLEIN: Well, if you look back at

         24  the funds this City has received since 2003, and

         25  that totals about 488 million, in addition to the
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          2  Police Department receiving about 225 million, the

          3  Fire Departments receive 112 million, the Department

          4  of Health has received about 27 million, hospitals

          5  about 8 million, DoITT, our technology agency, has

          6  received 51 million, DOT 26 million and the medical

          7  examiner 5 million. The smaller amounts going to

          8  other agencies also.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are there any

         10  other agencies that you didn't mention?

         11                 What about DEP?

         12                 MR. KLEIN: DEP has received about 7

         13  million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. The other

         15  agencies?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: Oh, the Office of

         17  Emergency Management has received 17 million.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Are these

         19  agencies going to be cut across the board based on

         20  the current results from the Department of Homeland

         21  Security? Assuming it stays the same?

         22                 MR. KLEIN: There has been no final

         23  decision made yet about which projects within the

         24  100 million the City is going to be pursuing, we're

         25  going through, since we're recently notified of the
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          2  reduction, we're going through a process now

          3  analyzing the projects and working with the Mayor's

          4  Office and the other affected agencies, including

          5  Commissioner Kelly, and when a decision is made we

          6  will forward the review of that to Homeland

          7  Security.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.

          9                 And who internally, since

         10  Commissioner Kelly testified that basically the

         11  process runs through the office of Management and

         12  Budget, who internally in the City Administration

         13  composes the Committee that actually decides how the

         14  allocation is going to be funded throughout the

         15  various City agencies that you referred to?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: Well, in the end it's like

         17  the budget process, and the final decision will rest

         18  with the Mayor.

         19                 There is an internal oversight

         20  committee --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, the budget

         22  process the City Council has some say in it.

         23                 MR. KLEIN: Well, on this the

         24  application has run through the Executive. The

         25  initial application.

                                                            44

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, that's why

          3  I'm asking about this. It's not exactly like the

          4  budget process.

          5                 MR. KLEIN: You're correct.

          6                 On this one there is a Committee

          7  consisting of the Mayor's Office of Operations, OMB,

          8  the Criminal Justice Coordinator, DoITT, some other

          9  agencies meet consistently with the sponsoring

         10  agencies, put together a list of recommendations,

         11  and in the end that list of recommendations is

         12  presented to the Mayor and an application is

         13  determined.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, so when

         15  it's presented to the Mayor, you're saying it's the

         16  Mayor that makes the determination as to which

         17  agencies are actually going to get X dollars based

         18  on what he perceives their needs to be?

         19                 MR. KLEIN: Well, this Committee makes

         20  a recommendation to him and reviews that

         21  recommendation with him, and his senior staff.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, has the

         23  process started for the current allocation with the

         24  $100 million cut?

         25                 MR. KLEIN: I think there's, I know
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          2  there's been some staff work going on to review it.

          3  We're looking at it now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. And what's

          5  your timing on that process?

          6                 MR. KLEIN: We're looking to get it

          7  done as quickly as possible. A firm date hasn't been

          8  set. From what I understand, the actual legal date

          9  is 60 days from the formal notification by DHS to

         10  the City. We haven't actually received the formal

         11  notification yet. But we would obviously seek to do

         12  this as quickly as possible.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Is there

         14  any formal appellate process from this recent, what

         15  I would deem as the Chairman King stated outrageous

         16  decision of cuts to the City, and if not, could

         17  there be federal legislation which could either

         18  change it or provide for some appellate process?

         19                 MR. KLEIN: As far as I know, there is

         20  no appellate process to appeal this particular

         21  decision.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, what about

         23  legislation, federal legislation to put in place an

         24  appellate process?

         25                 MR. KLEIN: Not being an expert on
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          2  federal legislation, I couldn't answer that.

          3                 However, I'm certain you can always

          4  have legislation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, it seems in

          6  light of Chairman King, as Chair of the House

          7  Committee, relevant committee, feeling that there

          8  was a strong injustice done, are there any

          9  communications between the City or the Mayor and

         10  Chairman King and other members of the House and

         11  Senate into what can be done legislatively to appeal

         12  this decision or change the criteria which went into

         13  this decision?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: I'm not aware of any

         15  personally, but just from what I've read in the

         16  papers, there are ongoing conversations with New

         17  York's elected officials to see what we can do to

         18  change this process so that this doesn't happen

         19  again in the future.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. And one of

         21  the other things that's disturbing, and maybe

         22  Commissioner Kelly might be able to shed some

         23  insight on this, is the fact that seems to be the

         24  guidelines severely limit the ability to access some

         25  of these Homeland Security funds for legitimate
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          2  police overtime and I guess Fire Department overtime

          3  as well, and OEM overtime, based on direct security

          4  threats, based on the extensive testimony and

          5  documentation that Commissioner Kelly went through

          6  in his testimony, is there anything being done or

          7  proposed legislatively or administratively that

          8  could somehow make it easier to obtain federal

          9  Homeland Security funds or grants for legitimate

         10  overtime based on additional security threats?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I know the Mayor

         12  had a discussion with Secretary Chertoff, ongoing

         13  discussion, before this eruption, you might say,

         14  about that issue.

         15                 We need personnel costs to be

         16  addressed here. We're not talking about normal

         17  overtime generated by arrests and whatever, this is

         18  overtime that's directly related to our

         19  counter-terrorism programs.

         20                 Now, they limited in their own

         21  internal regulations to ten percent, I believe, of

         22  the expenditures that we incur when the alert level

         23  is raised. When it's raised to orange, I believe we

         24  can get a ten percent reimbursement. That's their

         25  regulations. But there's been ongoing efforts to try
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          2  and change that. Since I worked in the federal

          3  government, there is a general resistance to fund

          4  personnel cost in any grant programs on the federal

          5  level, so there's kind of an institutional

          6  resistance to funding over time in grant programs,

          7  but we're trying to overcome that. We talked to

          8  Chairman King about it, and as I said I know the

          9  Mayor has raised the issue with Secretary Chertoff

         10  on several occasions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, what else

         12  can we do? What can the City Council do? What can

         13  the Congress do? You know, it's very frustrating, as

         14  you can appreciate. Should we be going to Washington

         15  and exerting political pressure? Should we be

         16  demanding, you know, additional hearings? Should we

         17  have demonstrations? What should we be doing that

         18  could somehow highlight the issue and the

         19  unfairness?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, certainly

         21  this hearing is an effort to highlight the issue. I

         22  would hope that some legislation can be put forward

         23  that would address these concerns, and I believe

         24  that's the goal of Chairman King.

         25                 Congresswoman Maloney was here this
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          2  morning. She's going to be involved in hearings all

          3  week. So, we're hopeful that some of these

          4  inequities can be addressed throughout legislation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Also, the

          6  fact, I know you've had extensive testimony, and

          7  your testimony, I know there have been recent

          8  reports over the -- as recently as over the weekend,

          9  various interviews that you have given about ongoing

         10  breeding, if you want, of potential terrorists

         11  in-house, so-to-speak. When I say in-house, I mean

         12  not foreign nationals that have been coming, you

         13  immigrating to this country, but actual terrorist

         14  activity by our own residents, our own citizens, and

         15  neighboring citizens.

         16                 Obviously that type of surveillance

         17  intelligence requires additional money as well.

         18                 I mean, it seems to me that our cost,

         19  based on the information we're getting and you're

         20  getting should be going up, and the funding

         21  proportionally should be going up rather than down,

         22  what can we be doing to fill that gap? And what are

         23  you planning, based on some of this additional

         24  information about what's actually happening right

         25  here?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we're

          3  engaged in following investigative leads that we

          4  obtain. The Herald Square Subway bombing case was a

          5  case that was done by the New York City Police

          6  Department's Intelligence Division. I believe it was

          7  a very good case, very well done. But you're right,

          8  Mr. Chairman, we see this really all over the world,

          9  in terms of home-grown terrorism, if you will, the

         10  London bombings on July 7th of the past year, there

         11  were four individuals, suicide bombers, three of

         12  them were born in the United Kingdom. We see the

         13  arrests that were made in Toronto a week and a half

         14  ago. They're Canadian citizens. The individual in

         15  the subway bombing, I spoke about his accomplice,

         16  was born here in the United States.

         17                 The one just convicted has been in

         18  the country a long time, and the Madrid bombings,

         19  many were in Spain for up to 14 years. So, after

         20  9/11 there was this assumption, you might say, that

         21  individuals were going to come from outside the

         22  country and attack us, as the individuals who took

         23  over the planes of 9/11 were from outside the

         24  country, but we have to change our focus. Certainly

         25  that's a concern for us still, but we have to look
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          2  right here and other parts of the country, and we're

          3  doing that, we're doing it with our partners, and

          4  we're doing it here in New York, and we're doing a

          5  lot of it on our own dime, there's no question about

          6  that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. And just

          8  finally, regarding urban area security initiatives,

          9  funding, according to the pass-through requirements

         10  set forth by the federal government, any UASI funds

         11  retained by the State must be used to support

         12  directly the identified urban area. How has the

         13  State used the portion of UASI funding it retains in

         14  the New York City region for the past federal fiscal

         15  years? And I tend to think New York City is not

         16  getting their fair share as they should be based on

         17  actual terrorist threat.

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, New York

         19  State can take, or states can take up to 20 percent

         20  of the money that pass-throughs under the urban area

         21  security initiative. They don't have to take 20

         22  percent. They could take any percentage, or take no

         23  percentage at all. New York State consistently has

         24  taken 20 percent.

         25                 The best we can identify is about $8
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          2  million that we received from the State.

          3                 Now, I believe what the State will

          4  tell you, I know Chairman Vallone and I have spoken

          5  about this on several occasions, that the State will

          6  tell you that they send National Guard troops to New

          7  York City, to Penn Station, and sometimes to Grand

          8  Central Station, those sorts of expenditures. But

          9  other than that, we can't identify where the money

         10  is being spent.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So, it's safe to

         12  say that you feel the State should not be taking

         13  that full 20 percent?

         14                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, you know,

         15  if in fact they have legitimate, articulable reasons

         16  to take the money, then, fine. We don't know what

         17  those reasons are. We don't know where that money is

         18  going for the most part.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, I tend to

         20  agree with you.

         21                 So, I can say that I think the State

         22  shouldn't be taking the 20 percent, based on what

         23  you know now, it seems to me that they shouldn't be

         24  taking the full 20 percent.

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We'd like to get
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          2  more money. So, unless they have a good reason to

          3  take it, yes, we'd like the money to come here.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, my other

          5  question for you, the follow-up on that is what can

          6  we be doing to articulate to our friends in Albany

          7  and in other places, who probably, I'm sure we have

          8  a lot of support, as far as people that agree with

          9  that position, what can we do to change that?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, Chairman

         11  Vallone has written several letters trying to get an

         12  answer as to where that money has been spent or is

         13  being spent.

         14                 We haven't gotten a satisfactory

         15  answer as yet. So, maybe you can try --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I don't think

         17  Chairman Vallone has either.

         18                 All right, well I think maybe we

         19  should work together to try to, you know, see if we

         20  can change that, and I will work closely with

         21  Chairman Vallone in our efforts as whatever we can

         22  do at our level to make the powers that be in Albany

         23  realize that it's in everyone's best interest that

         24  New York City get, or the urban areas in the State

         25  get what they should get based strictly on security
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          2  concerns and terrorist threats, as opposed to any

          3  form of other, you know, pork barrel or distribution

          4  formula.

          5                 I'm going to turn it to -- we have a

          6  number of colleagues that want to ask questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes we're going

          8  to turn it over to -- well, before we do, let me

          9  just say, remind people, we did invite Secretary

         10  Chertoff here to answer some questions. Apparently

         11  he hasn't arrived yet. Apparently he may be in a

         12  parade in Charlotte in his honor, I don't know, but

         13  we're now going to turn it over to Council Member

         14  Addabbo.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         16  Chairman Vallone. While I commend the efforts of

         17  both committees, both finance and public safety,

         18  both chairs, and, Commissioner, while I appreciate

         19  your time here today, as well as the other members

         20  of the NYPD, the bottom line is we should not be

         21  having this hearing today. It is absolutely a shame

         22  and inconceivable that we are having this hearing

         23  today. And maybe conversely we should be having a

         24  hearing on how to spend the additional funds we

         25  should have gotten, but it is an absolute shame we
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          2  are having this hearing today.

          3                 While we express our frustration

          4  about the funding cuts today, Commissioner you

          5  mentioned in your testimony procedures that we're

          6  taking in handing our requests obviously over to

          7  DHS. I appreciate the Mayor's position about going

          8  forward and how we prevent these kind of cuts

          9  occurring in future years, next year so-to-speak,

         10  and something that was alluded to by Chairman

         11  Weprin, what are we doing and what can be done to

         12  prevent these kind of cuts occurring in the future?

         13  Had there been a change of procedure, or what can be

         14  done in the conversations possibly between Chertoff

         15  and our Mayor, what can be done to prevent these

         16  future cuts?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we have had

         18  these conversations, the Mayor had these

         19  conversations with Secretary Chertoff, but we're

         20  hopeful that the Committee review process, the

         21  hearing process in Washington will be helpful in

         22  changing some minds, first of all, shedding light on

         23  the process itself. What happened? How did we get to

         24  where we are with this allocation? And then

         25  secondly, some proposed legislation to address what
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          2  we see are significant and substantial inequities,

          3  and a totally different philosophy on their part,

          4  which is focusing almost totally on responding,

          5  after an event has happened, as opposed to in our

          6  minds being equally focused, on at least what we

          7  think they should be doing, equally focused on

          8  prevention.

          9                 So, we're hopeful that under Chairman

         10  King and others, under Congresswoman Maloney, we're

         11  going to see some progress on the legislative front

         12  in Washington.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And how

         14  hopeful are you and the Administration in that we

         15  can address these issues, and again, giving the

         16  funding next year, are you optimistic that we can

         17  overcome these hurdles?

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm not

         19  optimistic or pessimistic, because we don't have

         20  enough information on it. And again, that's why I'm

         21  hopeful that we're going to find out a lot more

         22  about the process, about how will these cities

         23  selected -- there's now 46 cities. We started out

         24  with seven cities, which all made sense to most

         25  people in this business, seven urban areas in the
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          2  country that reasonably could be deemed to have a

          3  significant threat against them, or potential

          4  threats. That has morphed into 46 cities. How did

          5  that happen? And who can articulate? You know, it's

          6  one thing, every City, every locality has

          7  vulnerabilities. We know that, but what you have to

          8  do is superimpose on that, a realistic threat

          9  assessment, and you just can't argue with a straight

         10  face some of these cities -- we don't begrudge them

         11  anything. That's the process. You go to Washington,

         12  you fight for money, and you get it, fine. You know,

         13  congratulations to them. But the process itself is

         14  flawed and they have not taken, you know, a

         15  realistic threat assessment.

         16                 You look at it as it's kind of

         17  mumbo-jumbo, in terms of the criteria that they use,

         18  it just doesn't stand scrutiny. Even in our own

         19  system, they talk about the evaluations being

         20  average or above average, and somehow we fall to the

         21  below average category. If you look at their own

         22  system, they have these sort of clockface indicators

         23  in the document they put out, saying that the

         24  evaluations are, as far as New York, are average or

         25  above average, and then ultimately go down to a
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          2  below average or a low of 15 percent. Nobody can

          3  realistically figure this out. So, we need light on

          4  the process. Let's find out what happened and

          5  hopefully this is what will come forward from

          6  Chairman King and others, others in our

          7  Congressional Delegation in Washington.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And,

          9  Commissioner, lastly, you know, for years obviously

         10  in the City Council we've been saying, and also the

         11  Administration, that we have been shortchanged by

         12  the federal government in that we give so much back

         13  and we get little in return.

         14                 Our City budget already spends on

         15  what many perceive as initiatives that, you know,

         16  protect people, federal measures.

         17                 We've already spent City dollars

         18  through our City budget on what is perceived as

         19  federal measures. How much money in our City budget

         20  could you maybe allude to as how much do we spend in

         21  where City NYPD is spending on training federal

         22  employees, how much is spent in our City budget on

         23  federal measures?

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, it's not an

         25  easy answer. We do do federal training, we get some
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          2  funding for that. We protect the United Nations and

          3  foreign counsel that's here, we get some money for

          4  that. It's always a fight, and you know, it doesn't

          5  come in one neat package. Every year there is an

          6  appropriation, or some years there is no

          7  appropriation and then you get it two or three years

          8  down the road.

          9                 So, I can't give you a nice, neat

         10  number. And of course, one of their arguments is

         11  that you have the UN here and you have all these

         12  counsel that's here. They generate a lot of tax

         13  revenues. So, it's that sort of discussion that we

         14  have. But clearly we all know we send a lot more

         15  money to Washington than we get back.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Well,

         17  Commissioner, again, I appreciate your time, and,

         18  again, I look forward to working with you and this

         19  Committee on hopefully a brighter future for the

         20  security of our residents.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         25  Council Member Addabbo.
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          2                 Let me just say that due to the short

          3  notice that we gave Commissioner Kelly, he doesn't

          4  have the time he usually has to spend with us. We

          5  didn't realize that until just now but he's going to

          6  make every attempt to answer every Council Member's

          7  question, but, please, in deference to your

          8  colleagues, try to be short so that everyone will

          9  get a chance.

         10                 We have numerous Council members who

         11  would like to ask questions, and I'll turn it over

         12  to Council Member Oddo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         16                 Commissioner, the title of Secretary

         17  Chertoff's op-ed piece last week was New York,

         18  you're still number one. But it's still not clear if

         19  he's indicating that by raising his index finger or

         20  his middle finger.

         21                 Commissioner, within the last couple

         22  of years there was reports in the media of a

         23  specific threat to a specific location in the City,

         24  and that effort was thwarted because in these

         25  cryptic messages back and forth, the would-be
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          2  terrorists said that it was too hot or something to

          3  that reference.

          4                 Could you tell me the specific

          5  location and what the name of the program was that

          6  increased personnel around that location to make it

          7  quote/unquote too hot?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. The location

          9  was the Brooklyn Bridge. Iyman Faris was the

         10  individual who was ultimately arrested for this.

         11  He's now even convicted. He pled guilty. Twenty

         12  years in jail. He was sent here to scout out the

         13  Brooklyn Bridge and to devise a way to take it down

         14  basically by severing the cables.

         15                 Now, Iyman Faris, as we say, is the

         16  real deal. He was in Afghanistan in the eighties.

         17  He's a naturalized US citizen, lives in Ohio. By the

         18  way, he was a hazardous material truck driver, would

         19  drive here to New York.

         20                 After 9/11 we believe he was in

         21  Yamin, helping individuals escape from Afghanistan

         22  and go to Yamin as the US went into Afghanistan. So,

         23  he was definitely the real article, he goes, he

         24  assess what's going on at the Brooklyn Bridge, we're

         25  using our Atlas program to increase our uniformed
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          2  presence on the bridge, much to the chagrin of many

          3  people driving over the Brooklyn Bridge, but we did

          4  have, you know, offices there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner,

          6  that's the same Atlas Program that was in the bottom

          7  15 percent?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. He sees the

          9  officers there and signals back to his handlers that

         10  the weather is too hot, meaning that too much

         11  security in the location.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You mentioned

         13  initially there were seven cities that received

         14  funding, now we're up to 46. I just think the record

         15  should reflect in some of the newspaper accounts it

         16  indicated that seven cities in this go-around of

         17  funding received substantial increases in funding,

         18  seven cities that actually had population less than

         19  my home Borough of Staten Island, which is amazing.

         20                 You mentioned the 15 percent that we

         21  finish in the bottom, has the Department had the

         22  chance to look at some of the other applications

         23  from other jurisdictions to evaluate the bonafides

         24  of those?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Not really. We
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          2  really haven't looked at them. I'm not certain we've

          3  been privy to that information.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: In heeding the

          5  Chairman's call, I'll just close with frankly a very

          6  self-serving statement. Commissioner, you did a

          7  great job of succinctly reminding New Yorkers and

          8  Americans who the enemy is, and if you looked at

          9  those 17 points, and you look for a common theme,

         10  you will see that the enemy isn't the Pennsylvania

         11  Dutch or the Mormon's or the Jesuits, the enemy is

         12  Islamic fundamentalists.

         13                 So, I would say to my colleagues that

         14  when some elected officials and law enforcement folk

         15  talk about keeping that fact square front and square

         16  and center that using that fact, that knowing who

         17  our enemy is, and, frankly, what they look like,

         18  when we talk about putting that front and center,

         19  and using that as a factor in law enforcement and

         20  allowing law enforcement to do what it does best, we

         21  shouldn't be castigated and we shouldn't throw

         22  around fancy terms that like to marginalize folks.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         25  Council member. Council Member McMahon.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          3  both, the Chairman and Commissioner. Good morning to

          4  you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good morning.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And to those

          7  with you and the members of your staff.

          8                 Just to sort of carry on, or pick up

          9  I should say, not to carry on, but to pick up where

         10  Council Member Oddo began, you know, the term was

         11  used, as expressed by the Congressman from Long

         12  Island, what we've seen happen here is outrageous.

         13  It seems to me for us New Yorkers who were attacked

         14  and who, as you've reminded us here this morning,

         15  with the points of the cases that you've worked on

         16  since 9/11, we continue to be under attack and those

         17  forces continue to be at work at all time.

         18                 So, to call the conduct of the

         19  Department of Homeland Security outrageous, to me is

         20  euphemistic. I can't think of an adjective that

         21  could speak to the type of conduct that is being put

         22  upon the people of New York, and you know better

         23  than any of us who lived through the horrors of

         24  9/11, we all lost loved ones, we've lost friends,

         25  we've watched heroes die in front of us, we've been
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          2  at their funerals and ceremonies and honoring them,

          3  do you -- I mean, in your opinion, what is the

          4  reason behind this decision? Is it stupidity? Is it

          5  pork barrel politics? Is it an anti-New York bias?

          6  Or what do you think motivates the people who are

          7  making the decision? I mean, really, not the

          8  bureaucratic answers that they give, but what do you

          9  think is really behind this decision?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Probably a little

         11  bit of everything you said, but it's hard to, you

         12  know, drill down and find out specific answers.

         13                 On the surface you can say that there

         14  is a shift in philosophy or at least a hardening of

         15  philosophy on the part of Homeland Security. And

         16  they use the term investments, so it says to me that

         17  their mindset is such now that at least this is what

         18  they can say in public, that you take money and you

         19  invest it in an area. Give them money, kind of

         20  start-up money and give them equipment or something

         21  like that to help them defend the City and, of

         22  course, help them respond if there is an attack, and

         23  then you move on to another location. You make

         24  another investment.

         25                 And they used the term
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          2  "sustainability" when they say that our programs

          3  are not sustainable. What that means to me is not

          4  sustainable, because they don't want to sustain it

          5  with their money. They don't want to continue to

          6  spend money on a program, they don't want to spend

          7  money on an ongoing program. They want to spend

          8  money for a piece of hardware and then move on, and

          9  then you're on your own.

         10                 So, that is what I think you can

         11  discern from some of the comments and some of the

         12  verbiage that's used in the applications process.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I understand

         14  that that's sort of the bureaucratic philosophy that

         15  they point to. Do you believe that that's really

         16  what's behind this? Or is this sort of the, you

         17  know, the despicable reasons that we all suspect,

         18  such as, you know, pork barrel spending and

         19  stupidity and anti-New York bias when it comes to

         20  doing this type of project.

         21                 I mean, these are people, any time

         22  there is an event to honor those that we've lost, or

         23  there is a time to raise a flag and speak of

         24  patriotism, these are people in Washington who will

         25  sit in the front row. But in fighting terrorism
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          2  every day, you and the New York Police Department

          3  are on the front line. So, I'll go on and on, I know

          4  why you're here and I know that's not the style that

          5  you bring, and it's good because you're much more

          6  effective in what you do, but I mean do you believe

          7  that that's the reason? Or do you believe that it's

          8  for much more sordid reasons?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I would tell you

         10  if I had an answer. Just I think we're trying to

         11  sort it out, and that's why I'm hopeful that these

         12  hearings in Washington will give us some indications

         13  of it.

         14                 But when you expand from seven cities

         15  to 46 urban areas, I mean you have to be suspect on

         16  some of the things you have said, because you just

         17  can't say with a straight face that the cities are

         18  at risk. I mean, every place is vulnerable, as I

         19  say.

         20                 What is the strategic consequence of

         21  an event happening in one of these cities. That's

         22  what you have to ask.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Right.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: And New York is

         25  at the top of the list, and far -- and that's what
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          2  Congressman King had said, too, when he looked at

          3  the -- just last week he was shocked as to how far

          4  in front New York is as far as threats are

          5  concerned. He had a closed door confidential hearing

          6  with people, with intelligence people.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Do you

          8  consider this an insult or an attempt to discredit

          9  the strategies that have been employed by the New

         10  York Police Department?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I don't know.

         12  Again, let's just hope that something --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And I hear

         14  what you're saying also, you have to be somewhat

         15  circumspect.

         16                 The panel that was considering the

         17  applications, to your knowledge, was anybody from

         18  New York on that panel?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, first of

         20  all, you don't look at your locality, you know, you

         21  look at other -- this is what we're finding out,

         22  it's coming out gradually, and I think there was an

         23  individual from OMB that was on one of those panels.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay. I hope

         25  we're talking to that person to find out what
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          2  happened.

          3                 And then just lastly, in the article

          4  that you handed out from Popular Mechanics that I

          5  think clearly points out the message that you bring

          6  here today, what a great job the NYPD is doing,

          7  there is mention about the issues of containers

          8  coming into the port, and as you know Staten Island

          9  has the largest container port in New York City and

         10  one of the largest in the region; will the cut in

         11  this money affect our ability to keep the container

         12  port secure?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, it wouldn't

         14  because we're not doing very much to protect the

         15  container ports, quite frankly, as a locality, as a

         16  City. We rely on the federal government to do that.

         17  We rely on customs and border protection. I think

         18  the ports in general throughout this country are

         19  very vulnerable.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you for

         21  that candor, and your answer, of course, doesn't

         22  assure me very much. So, we'll see how NYPD can do

         23  some work there too on Staten Island.

         24                 Thank you very much, Commissioner.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          3  Council member.

          4                 Just for planning purposes, there are

          5  no witnesses after this panel, and we have the list

          6  of Council Members to go is Garodnick, Yassky, Katz,

          7  Foster and Sears.

          8                 Commissioner, have you been asked to

          9  testify yet in Washington?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: On this matter?

         11  No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Not yet. Are you

         13  under any impression that you will be testifying in

         14  Washington?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's possible. I

         16  mean, there's been some hints but we haven't heard

         17  anything directly, let's put it that way.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         19  Garodnick.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chairman.

         22                 Commissioner, gentlemen, thank you

         23  for being here. Thank you for all of your good work,

         24  recognizing, first, that we're all preaching to the

         25  choir here, I did want to note the great strides
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          2  that this Department has made in its

          3  counter-terrorism efforts, and it is unfortunate to

          4  see that the federal government is making it more

          5  difficult, rather than more easy, for you and us to

          6  accomplish those very important goals.

          7                 I did want to ask you two very brief

          8  questions. One relating to the numbers specifically.

          9  In your testimony, Commissioner, you said that the

         10  City's application sought a total of $458.8 million,

         11  and of that, 219 million was for specific programs

         12  relating to the Police Department, correct?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, sir.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: The

         15  remaining $239 million that were sought in this

         16  application, what was the purpose of the remaining

         17  $239 million?

         18                 MR. KLEIN: They went to projects in a

         19  variety of agencies. For instance, $83 million

         20  interoperable communications system, about $40

         21  million for DOT hazard mitigation program for the

         22  bridges, a Fire Department tiered response matrix

         23  for disasters, some public health programs within

         24  the Department of Health, and then there were just a

         25  minor, a large number of minor, smaller programs.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, when we

          3  talk about the number going from $213 million to

          4  $124 million, we're talking about police-specific,

          5  correct?

          6                 MR. KLEIN: Just a second.

          7                 No, the 124 is the Citywide number.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: That's the

          9  Citywide total? So, we requested $458 million and

         10  ended with $124 million?

         11                 MR. KLEIN: Yes. Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Do you know

         13  what we asked for last year?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: Last year the grant

         15  process was different. Last year we were given an

         16  amount of money and submitted projects for their

         17  review, so that last year, for instance, they gave

         18  us a specific amount of money as they did in the

         19  years prior to that and we submitted the projects

         20  for their review under certain guidelines. This year

         21  they changed to the competitive process, which is a

         22  whole new process.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I see. So,

         24  just at the end of the day, our City application

         25  sought $458 million, we got a total of $124 million.
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          2  The Police Department specifically was looking for

          3  $219.7 million and the 124 is divided among the

          4  various requests that we have; is that right?

          5                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I must say,

          7  the federal government, Department of Homeland

          8  Security, to point to the application process and to

          9  say that there may or may not have been a problem

         10  with the filing is really to me, it's an

         11  embarrassing abdication on their part of their

         12  responsibilities, especially in light of our recent

         13  history. It's just shocking that you would say, let

         14  alone hide behind any bureaucratic excuses on this

         15  front.

         16                 I had one other question, which was

         17  the investigations of the NYPD and the Joint

         18  Terrorism Task Force. In your testimony,

         19  Commissioner, you said that our investigations

         20  significantly exceed those of any other major city.

         21  I wonder if you could put that in any context, if

         22  you could put that in any numbers that we can get a

         23  sense as to what that means.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, I would

         25  prefer not to do that, sir.

                                                            74

          1  FINANCE AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Yes, I

          3  understand.

          4                 The last thing I just wanted to

          5  mention was that I communicated directly to

          6  secretary Chertoff my own disappointment at his

          7  conclusion that there were no national monuments and

          8  icons in New York City. Looking in my own Council

          9  district, one of 51 Council districts in New York

         10  City, I was able to identify the Chrysler Building,

         11  the United Nations, most of the embassies, the

         12  Gugenheim, Grand Central Terminal, Carnegie Hall,

         13  the Jewish Museum, and that is in one Council

         14  district, let alone all 51 Council districts from

         15  around the City. And, of course, I agree with you

         16  that New York City itself is an icon and a monument,

         17  and something which is deserving of better treatment

         18  than this and I think the risk rather than politics

         19  should be making these determinations. And, so, I

         20  thank you very much for all that you're doing, and

         21  we will continue to stand with you in this important

         22  struggle.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you, sir.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,
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          2  Council member.

          3                 I just would like to recognize that

          4  we have representatives from the FDNY in the back of

          5  the room, and we've had police and fire unions in

          6  and out of this room all morning long, and

          7  Congressmember Fossella has a comprehensive

          8  statement which we are placing on the record.

          9                 Council Member Yassky.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         11  Chair Vallone.

         12                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good morning.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I won't

         15  restate all the reasons that you and my colleagues

         16  have given for why Secretary Chertoff's actions here

         17  are really preposterous. I just want to follow-up on

         18  something that Chair Vallone asked you about the

         19  beginning, which is direct assistance, non-cash but

         20  direct assistance from the federal government. I'm

         21  just curious, have we ever, or has the Department or

         22  the City ever asked for more direct assistance

         23  guarding our monuments here?

         24                 For example, the district I

         25  represent, the entrance for the Brooklyn Bridge, the
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          2  NYPD, your men and women are protecting today,

          3  everyday, at cost to the City. Hard to think of

          4  something that's more of a national icon. I mean,

          5  you know, as everyone has said here, we have easily

          6  30 to 50 of the country's most important monuments

          7  and therefore most obvious targets. You know, if

          8  they gave assistance in the form of people, I would

          9  think that even Secretary Chertoff would be too

         10  embarrassed to see federal agents defending

         11  cornfields in Iowa, but would be proud to see

         12  federal agents defending the Statue of Liberty, the

         13  Brooklyn Bridge, the Empire State Building; have we

         14  investigated that?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Not directly, but

         16  we certainly would accept it. I mean, if they wanted

         17  to send troops or resources, law enforcement

         18  personnel here to New York to protect some of these

         19  icons, we would gladly accept it.

         20                 I don't think we've ever sat down. We

         21  do have the Statue of Liberty, some park police

         22  there, but no other location in New York City other

         23  than the US Mission at First Avenue across from the

         24  UN.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, I, for
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          2  one, then, I do suggest the federal government

          3  should replace the NYPD folks who are paid for, as

          4  you know, 100 percent by New York City taxpayers,

          5  with federal agents, because this is a federal --

          6  your explanation for Secretary Chertoff's decision I

          7  think is absolutely right, when they try and frame

          8  things as investments rather than as security

          9  assistance, it's so they can avoid taking on the

         10  full responsibility for defending our homeland. And

         11  I think it's all about trying to save money from the

         12  federal budget, what plainly is a federal

         13  responsibility, anti-terrorism. And I think that the

         14  federal government should supply agents to protect

         15  the critical targets here in New York City. Thank

         16  you, Chair Vallone.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

         18  keeping the questions brief. Again, the Commissioner

         19  doesn't have the resources he thought he would, he

         20  needs to get back out personally to protect us from

         21  terrorists, so if we can keep our questions short.

         22                 Council Member Katz.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Good morning,

         24  Commissioner.

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good morning.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I first would

          3  like to thank the Commissioner for my first copy

          4  ever of Popular Mechanics.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It won't be the

          6  last.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: This may be the

          8  start of a long relationship --

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: You can get

         10  hooked on it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:-- With the

         12  magazine, and also thank you, every time I do go

         13  over the Brooklyn Bridge I think of you fondly as I

         14  pass the car sitting on the side. The police car.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We're moving

         16  that, by the way. We're doing it with more

         17  technology that will enable us not to have the cars

         18  right there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I may not know

         20  what bridge I'm going over then. I know that car

         21  very well. It sits right there, and we thank you.

         22                 I have no doubt that you'll do what

         23  you think is necessary, though, in order to

         24  accommodate the safety of the Brooklyn Bridge.

         25                 I actually just have a few very quick
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          2  questions, if I can.

          3                 First of all, just to tag onto what

          4  Council Member McMahon said; is it possible that

          5  we're a victim of our own success?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I mean, you

          8  know, the United States government is fully aware

          9  that your Department has taken an initiative right

         10  after 9/11. You know, you created the

         11  Counter-Terrorism Unit, you added to the budget, you

         12  trained our police officers to be experts on

         13  terrorism, and my fear is that we're sort of a

         14  victim of our own success.

         15                 If the feds know we're going to

         16  handle it ourselves, then they have no problem

         17  cutting our funding for it.

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I agree. And one

         19  of the issues is the reimbursement for expense that

         20  we incurred from, certainly from the beginning of

         21  this Administration, or from 9/11 on, we didn't get

         22  any money from Homeland Security for this type of

         23  work until August of 2003. So, we were doing it for

         24  18 months, spending a lot of money, it was totally

         25  disregarded. And you can't supplant, it is one of
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          2  the regulations. In other words, you can supplement,

          3  but not supplant. So, if you've spent your own money

          4  to do things, well, you're not going to be

          5  reimbursed for that. That's one of the approaches

          6  that they take.

          7                 And it's in keeping with your view

          8  that we are penalized for acting quickly, and for

          9  doing things that no other City has done. Why?

         10  Because we're at the top of the terrorist target

         11  list.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I would suggest

         13  that if the federal government had such faith in the

         14  New York City Police Department and in you, they

         15  should just give us the money and we'll figure out

         16  how to use it. They don't even have to dictate where

         17  it goes, we will manage it, it's fine.

         18                 You said that we spent the first 18

         19  months after 9/11, you created quickly. And those of

         20  us that were in office with you from the very

         21  beginning in January 2002 know how quickly you

         22  developed these new initiatives.

         23                 Can you tell me off the top of your

         24  head how much more money we spent because of all

         25  those initiatives in the first year after 9/11? What
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          2  did the budget jump?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: In the first year

          4  after 9/11? You know, I can probably get you in

          5  those figures, but it doesn't come easily. We'd have

          6  to do a little calculation but we can give you that

          7  number.

          8                 But we phased in the intelligence and

          9  some things we did more quickly than others.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Clearly, the

         11  Police Department would try not to take away the

         12  police officers and funds from other areas of the

         13  Police Department. You clearly would have had to add

         14  money that was unexpected at the time in order to

         15  create the task force and do these initiatives.

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Very quickly,

         18  when a threat is made and we raise our alert, does

         19  the federal government add in any extra on that? How

         20  does that work? I mean, are we sort of on our own

         21  when that happens?

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, if we do

         23  it, if we say we're at a heightened level of alert

         24  since 9/11, we get no money for that per se. But if

         25  the federal government raises the alert level, which
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          2  they haven't done in quite awhile, we will, under

          3  their rules and regulations, we can be reimbursed

          4  for ten percent of our overtime costs.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So if you raise

          6  the alert on the City, or the Mayor raises the alert

          7  on the City, the federal government really doesn't

          8  -- do they assess it to see if it's a real threat?

          9  Do they look at what you're showing them and make a

         10  determination on their own that we need extra help?

         11  Or they just sort of say if they didn't take the

         12  initiative, they didn't do it, we're on our own? I

         13  mean, that's what it comes down to, doesn't it?

         14  We're on our own?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we often

         16  times see ourselves like that, we're on our own, but

         17  we're going to act, the Mayor has certainly put that

         18  policy in place. We're going to do what we think is

         19  right as quickly as possible, and we'll find the

         20  money to do it, as we did on October 6th of last

         21  year. It was the most credible information, the most

         22  detailed information, let's put it that way, that we

         23  ever received. That's when we put additional

         24  officers in the Transit system, and that's when

         25  there was a disagreement, let's say, in Homeland
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          2  Security, as to why we did it, and, yet, anybody who

          3  saw that information would say we have no choice, no

          4  choice but to do it, and, you know, we acted very

          5  quickly and we're going to continue to do that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Well, I thank

          7  you, and Mr. Chair, in the interest of time I will

          8  stop.

          9                 I guess my last comment is that if

         10  you do testify at the feds, which I would find it

         11  hard to believe that this government would not ask

         12  the Commissioner of the Police Department of the

         13  City of New York to testify at their hearing. So, we

         14  look forward to your testimony there, because I am

         15  positive that you will be invited, and at the time I

         16  will ask you to remind them that if they do have

         17  such faith in the City of New York and you, then

         18  they should give us the funds necessary in order to

         19  protect our own borders as well.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, to

         23  all the Council members, for being so brief.

         24                 We have two left. Council Member

         25  Foster.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

          3                 Good morning.

          4                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good morning.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I waited this

          6  long and then Melinda asked the question, so it has

          7  to do with us being a victim or our own success, and

          8  what I was thinking when I heard this result is New

          9  York City is the city that everybody wants to be

         10  like, so it's the -- it almost made me feel like did

         11  we dot every i and cross every t which would prevent

         12  them from having a reason not to fund us adequately?

         13  Because contrary to what Omaha thinks, it's not New

         14  York City. And when people in the world say I'm

         15  coming to the United States, they're not rushing to

         16  Omaha, they're rushing to New York.

         17                 So, I'm wondering how much is it us

         18  being a victim of our own success, doing it well?

         19  And how much is it because we're New York City, and

         20  it's the City you love to hate type of thing.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we'll never

         22  be able to answer that with great specificity. But I

         23  think it's fair to say that we've done a lot of

         24  things quickly, I believe a lot of things well, and

         25  we're being emulated in other parts of the country
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          2  and the world. So there might be a mindset that

          3  says, all right, you're doing it well, we're going

          4  to take these resources and move to other locations

          5  so that they can get up to a certain basic level of

          6  security. That's the kind of a best face that you

          7  can put on it, and if that's the case, then, yes,

          8  we're being penalized for our own success.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 I just think, and it's preaching to

         11  the converted and we said it over and over, I was

         12  kind of dumbfounded, I almost thought this was a

         13  spoof when they announced this 40 percent cut. And

         14  it is the back room -- not back room, that makes it

         15  sound shady, it is the things that are done not in

         16  the public that we know are helping to protect New

         17  York City that when and if you go down to Washington

         18  to testify, please let them know you have the

         19  support of the City Council in the need to

         20  adequately fund and protect New York.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member. I believe we do have a resolution

         25  which hopefully we can get passed before then.
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          2                 Council Member Sears.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair.

          5                 Good morning, Commissioner.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Good morning.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It's good to

          8  see you. And I just have to reiterate what you've

          9  heard from all my colleagues. You're doing a

         10  tremendous job and we thank you very much.

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thanks for

         13  this, because one of the things I'm going to do in

         14  my next newsletter is talk about New York's super

         15  cops, and then everybody will be able to know what

         16  you're doing.

         17                 I just have actually one question,

         18  maybe one and a half. In this Chamber last year, and

         19  it was testimony at the Finance Committee and

         20  Congress and some DOT people, that just about 80

         21  percent, if not a little more, of everything that

         22  this City consumers comes over the George Washington

         23  Bridge. That was a public statement. And my question

         24  to you is, is it a possibility to have a joint

         25  application for these funds where New York City and
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          2  New Jersey make a joint application, because if they

          3  need anything, and certainly we're talking about New

          4  Jersey and New York City, being extremely affected

          5  by inept securities, is that something that's doable

          6  in the process, or is it something that was and is

          7  ruled out or has not been thought of?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, I think it's

          9  an interesting question. Newark and Jersey City both

         10  received significant increases in money.

         11                 As far as the George Washington

         12  Bridge is concerned, we have a close relationship

         13  with the Port Authority Police, that is under their

         14  jurisdiction. They do a lot of things to protect the

         15  bridge. They have cameras there, plus truck stops,

         16  that sort of thing. But it's an interesting notion

         17  and something we should probably look at and --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because while

         19  you've been talking and hearing my colleagues and

         20  that thought came to be about the George Washington

         21  Bridge, it would seem that we'd be covering a few

         22  bases, and if both got, then it would be a big

         23  asset.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we're

         25  concerned, of course, about the plants, the chemical
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          2  plants and the locations that are right on the other

          3  side of the river here.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

          5  that.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: And we do talk to

          7  New Jersey authorities. We have a close-working

          8  relationship with them, where we actually had people

          9  working in New Jersey with the counter-terrorism

         10  people there.

         11                 But that's an interesting approach, a

         12  regional approach, so we should probably look at it,

         13  rather than have each State fighting individually.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Exactly. That

         15  would be a help. Maybe then you might let the Chair

         16  of the Committees know what you're doing.

         17                 Thank you. Thank you very much.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. As I

         20  said previously, I think after what we just learned

         21  today was the federal government failed us on 9/11,

         22  it's failing us again right now, that they're

         23  telling us to drop dead, except this time literally.

         24  I don't think we have any clear indication of why

         25  this is happening, nor do you at this point. We look
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          2  forward to working with you and supporting you as

          3  you go to Washington to try to fight for some change

          4  in this ridiculous situation, and make New York's

          5  argument. As I said, anything we can do, we stand

          6  ready to help you.

          7                 I'll turn it over to Chair Weprin for

          8  some closing remarks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, I agree

         10  totally with the statement by Chair Vallone. It's

         11  very frustrating from our chair over here in the

         12  City. Clearly, we have to make the case to

         13  Washington, and we obviously are united, both the

         14  Mayor and the Administration and the City Council

         15  and your office in that effort, and anything we can

         16  do to jointly, you know, regarding urging

         17  congressional hearings, urging congressional

         18  legislation, because there is no doubt that we can't

         19  just sit back and say, okay, you know, thank you

         20  very much for what you gave us. You know, clearly I

         21  think there is no question that on September 11th,

         22  2001, the attack on the World Trade Center was not

         23  an attack on New York City, it was an attack on the

         24  United States of America, and the reason it was an

         25  attack on the United States of America is that New
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          2  York City was a symbol that the terrorists looked

          3  at, and I don't think there's any doubt about that,

          4  and I think that has been recognized time and time

          5  again from President Bush on down, and we have to

          6  remind our friends in Washington and our not so

          7  friendly friends, or not so friendly colleagues that

          8  that was the case, and we're here on the home front,

          9  on the front lines, and I think we really have to

         10  hammer that home.

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you. Yes,

         12  sir.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         14  again, for making time in your schedule on short

         15  notice to all of you up there. And this meeting is

         16  adjourned.

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The Finance

         20  Committee is adjourned, too.

         21                 (The following written testimony read

         22  into the record.)

         23

         24

         25  Written Testimony Of:
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          2  Rep. Carolyn Maloney (NY-14)

          3

          4

          5  Statement - City Council hearing on homeland

          6  security funding

          7

          8  June 9, 2006

          9

         10                 Thank you for inviting me to give a

         11  perspective from Congress on this issue, which is

         12  vital to each and every resident of this city.

         13                 As you all know well, homeland

         14  security funding for our city and state has never

         15  been distributed as common sense would dictate, an

         16  unfortunately it seems to have gone from bad to

         17  worse.

         18                 Those of us who have worked hard for

         19  years to change the pork barrel homeland funding

         20  system were somewhat encouraged in early January of

         21  this year when Secretary Michael Chertoff made the

         22  big announcement that his department would adopt a

         23  new, sophisticated, risk-based system to distribute

         24  homeland grants, particularly the Urban Area grants.

         25  It seemed that Chertoff, who came from New Jersey,
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          2  better understood the meaning of risk and the

          3  tremendous needs of this city and others squarely in

          4  the terrorist bull's eye.

          5                 But on Wednesday, May 31st we heard

          6  the stunning, outrageous announcement that our city

          7  would receive a 40 percent cut in homeland grants,

          8  even under this supposedly risk-based distribution.

          9                 How could this be? Was it the result

         10  of an intentional plan to slam New York? Or was it

         11  incompetence? Yes and yes.

         12                 If you listen to the variety of

         13  explanations and excuses from Secretary Chertoff and

         14  his underlings since this announcement, your head

         15  will start spinning. They often contradict

         16  themselves. So let's take a spin-free look at what

         17  they did and what the independent experts are

         18  saying.

         19                 The formula devised by DHS contains a

         20  number of mechanisms that prevent our city getting

         21  its fair portion of the grants. One is that, for the

         22  first time, they lumped together regions, which

         23  means that the overall money, which is already less

         24  than last year, has been spread among more cities,

         25  some of which are small and undeserving.
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          2                 DHS also introduced into their

          3  supposedly risk-based formula the element of "need,"

          4  which the independent Congressional Research Service

          5  cited as a main reason for the funding cut. Whereas

          6  "risk" focuses on cities that the terrorists are

          7  actually targeting, "need" focuses on things like

          8  capability. New York has been at Code Orange or Red

          9  ever since 9/11, and we are developing a

         10  sophisticated and experienced security structure. At

         11  the same time, Omaha does not have the same tools or

         12  training to deal with terrorist attacks, which is

         13  why the DHS would assume their "need" is greater.

         14  But in reality, plenty of small cities don't have

         15  full capability, but they aren't the ones in the

         16  terrorist chatter day after day either. New York

         17  still has a need, and it will remain that way until

         18  we are told that we are no longer a main target.

         19                 Certainly, there are other ridiculous

         20  and indefensible aspects to DHS's formula. There's

         21  the reliance on these "peer review" panels filled

         22  with officials from around the country - don't you

         23  think that the officials from smaller cities are

         24  going to push for more funding for smaller cities?

         25                 And then there's the much
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          2  talked-about listing of "national monuments and

          3  icons" - or lack thereof.

          4                 If the administration still thinks we

          5  have no icons after all this, I'd love to take them

          6  on a tour of New York - I'll tell them they can meet

          7  me in Times Square.

          8                 The Secretary's excuse for this one

          9  is that they listed the Empire State Building, for

         10  example, as "large office building" and the Brooklyn

         11  Bridge as "bridge."

         12                 He contrasts them with Mt. Rushmore,

         13  a monument with much fewer visitors.

         14                 To that I ask, can't our icons be

         15  listed as both?

         16                 The Empire State Building is a large

         17  office building with thousands of workers, and it's

         18  also a famous site that attracts many more visitors

         19  and attention from terrorists. Al Qaeda wasn't

         20  videotaping the Brooklyn Bridge because it's just a

         21  bridge, they were doing so because it's a bridge and

         22  is a national icon.

         23                 The entire House delegation joined

         24  Peter King and Me in requesting a face-to-face

         25  meeting with the Secretary, and we expect that to
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          2  happen soon. Though I believe Mr. King will tackle

          3  this problem in his committee soon, our immediate

          4  legislative options are somewhat limited. We have

          5  already attempted a motion on the Homeland Security

          6  Appropriations bill, led by Nita Lowy, that would

          7  have effected a change in the funding process.

          8                 Unfortunately, this year's

          9  distribution is set in stone. And money that could

         10  be solidifying our security here in New York and

         11  Washington will instead be spent on fancy and

         12  unnecessary equipment in places like Omaha,

         13  Louisville and Jacksonville. All this the result of

         14  a bad plan and incompetent execution.

         15                 I thank you for your time.

         16                 It's the kin of common sense that

         17  seems to have completely escaped DHS as it tried to

         18  come up with as complicated a formula as possible.

         19                 The huge homeland security cut for

         20  New York came down to a stupid process that tilted

         21  the scales against our city and incompetence running

         22  the show. The bottom line is that we don't feel any

         23  safer.

         24                 I would also like to report that the

         25  entire New York delegation - including the mayor and
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          2  the governor - is completely united to fight this

          3  disservice. The response has been swift and loud.

          4

          5

          6

          7  Written Testimony Of:

          8  Congressman Vito Fossella (NY-13)

          9

         10

         11  New York City Council

         12  Committee on Public Safety

         13  The Honorable Peter F. Vallone, Jr., Chairman

         14  Committee on Finance

         15  The Honorable David I. Weprin, Chairman

         16  Oversight hearing - Effect of Homeland Security

         17  Funding Cuts on New York City's Terrorism

         18  Preparedness

         19

         20  June 12, 2006

         21

         22  Testimony of Congressman Vito Fossella (NY-13)

         23

         24                 Chairman Weprin, Chairman Vallone and

         25  distinguished members of the New York City Council,
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          2                 First, I would like to thank the

          3  committee for allowing me to testify today. As the

          4  war on terror makes great strides forward abroad

          5  with the elimination of Abu Musab al-Zarqawi in

          6  Iraq, it simultaneously has taken several steps

          7  backwards on the home front.

          8                 Only two weeks ago, the Department of

          9  Homeland Security announced its allocation for the

         10  threat-based Urban Areas Security Initiative (UASI)

         11  grants program. For Fiscal Year 2006, New York will

         12  receive a total of $124 million in UASI grants - a

         13  40% cut vs. last year. New York City's share of

         14  funding under the program has been slashed from 25%

         15  to 17% (from $829 million in FY 05 to $757 million

         16  in FY 06).

         17                 Where did this money go?

         18                 A flawed distribution system sent the

         19  brunt of it to cities like Omaha and Jacksonville -

         20  cities whose risk to terror pales in comparison to

         21  New York.

         22                 This is outrageous. Every dollar that

         23  is diverted from New York makes it more difficult to

         24  protect the city from terrorists. Sadly, the pork

         25  barrel distribution of homeland security funding
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          2  remains alive and well in Washington. There is no

          3  justification whatsoever that New York should

          4  experience a cut of 40% in its homeland security

          5  funding.

          6                 It is imperative for this injustice

          7  to be rectified, and I will fight vigorously to

          8  restore the money and also to do everything in my

          9  power to change this unfair and inequitable system

         10  for distributing federal homeland security dollars.

         11                 Toward that end, I wrote President

         12  Bush and asked him to directly intervene on behalf

         13  of New York City and overrule the Department of

         14  Homeland Security's decision to slash the funding to

         15  New York by $82 million.

         16                 Within several days, I spoke with

         17  Joshua Bolten, the President's Chief of Staff, and

         18  then Fran Townsend, Assistant to the President for

         19  Homeland Security and Counterterrorism. I expressed

         20  my outrage over the funding cuts and urged them to

         21  change DHS's decision to send more money to New York

         22  City.

         23                 I also plan to continue working with

         24  the entire New York delegation - Republicans and

         25  Democrats - to explore legislative solutions
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          2  reaffirming Congress' intent in creating UASI so the

          3  Department of Homeland Security doesn't keep

          4  diluting funds in the future. Soon I hope to

          5  introduce legislation that will change the UASI

          6  grants process to ensure that the full and equitable

          7  share of terrorism funding will go to New York City

          8  in the future.

          9                 We couldn't fight this battle for

         10  terrorism funding without the leadership of Mayor

         11  Bloomberg. Mayor Bloomberg is a tireless advocate

         12  for New York City and has done a tremendous job

         13  ensuring New Yorkers can go about their daily lives

         14  without living under the constant fear of another

         15  terrorist attack.

         16                 I would also like to make the point

         17  that the fight for protecting the homeland goes

         18  beyond partisan lines. I have worked with Senator

         19  Schumer, Congresswoman Maloney and Congressman

         20  Crowley in Washington on this issue.

         21                 As an example, just two weeks ago,

         22  before I learned of the 2006 allocations for UASI, I

         23  worked with Congressman Crowley and passed an

         24  amendment in the House that ads $20 million in

         25  funding to UASI for Fiscal Year 2007. The
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          2  Fossella/Crowley amendment, which passed the House

          3  unanimously as an amendment to the homeland Security

          4  Appropriations bill for FY 2007, transfers $20

          5  million in additional funds from the Transportation

          6  Security Administration's administrative budget to

          7  UASI. The amendment increases total funding under

          8  UASI to $770 million for FY 2007 - an increase of

          9  roughly $12.7 million over the 2006 level.

         10                 I want to thank Chairman Vallone and

         11  the New York City Council for holding today's

         12  hearing. We share a commitment to protecting New

         13  York, and I will continue to make fixing the

         14  inequitable distribution of homeland security

         15  funding one of my top priorities. Thank you again

         16  for the opportunity to testify today.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 11:49 a.m.)
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